EXTENDED CAFFARELLI-KOHN-NIRENBERG INEQUALITIES, AND REMAINDERS, STABILITY, AND SUPERWEIGHTS FOR L^p-WEIGHTED HARDY INEQUALITIES

MICHAEL RUZHANSKY, DURVUDKHAN SURAGAN, AND NURGISSA YESSIRKEGENOV

ABSTRACT. In this paper we give an extension of the classical Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities: we show that for $1 < p, q < \infty$, $0 < r < \infty$ with $p + q \ge r$, $\delta \in [0, 1] \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$ with $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$ and $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$ with $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$, and for all functions $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ we have

$$||x|^{c}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta} ||x|^{a}\nabla f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\delta} \left||x|^{b}f\right||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1-\delta}$$

for $n \neq p(1-a)$, where the constant $\left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta}$ is sharp for p = q with a-b=1 or $p \neq q$ with $p(1-a) + bq \neq 0$. In the critical case n = p(1-a) we have

$$|||x|^{c}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq p^{\delta} |||x|^{a} \log |x|\nabla f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\delta} \left|||x|^{b}f||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1-o}\right|.$$

Moreover, we also obtain anisotropic versions of these inequalities which can be conveniently formulated in the language of Folland and Stein's homogeneous groups. Consequently, we obtain remainder estimates for L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities on homogeneous groups, which are also new in the Euclidean setting of \mathbb{R}^n . The critical Hardy inequalities of logarithmic type and uncertainty type principles on homogeneous groups are obtained. Moreover, we investigate another improved version of L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities involving a distance and stability estimate. The relation between the critical and the subcritical Hardy inequalities on homogeneous groups is also investigated. We also establish sharp Hardy type inequalities in L^p , 1 , $<math>\underline{\beta}$

with superweights, i.e., with the weights of the form $\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})\frac{\beta}{p}}{|x|^m}$ allowing for different choices of α and β . There are two reasons why we call the appearing weights the superweights: the arbitrariness of the choice of any homogeneous quasi-norm and a wide range of parameters.

Contents

1.	Introduction	- 33
2.	Preliminaries	40
3.	On remainder estimates of anisotropic L^p -weighted	
	Hardy inequalities	42

Received by the editors March 14, 2017, and, in revised form, August 6, 2017. 2010 *Mathematics Subject Classification*. Primary 22E30, 43A80.

Key words and phrases. Hardy inequality, weighted Hardy inequality, Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequality, remainder term, homogeneous Lie group.

The authors were supported in part by the EPSRC grant EP/K039407/1 and by the Leverhulme Grant RPG-2014-02, as well as by the MESRK grant AP05130981. The second author was also supported by the Ministry of Science of the Russian Federation (the Agreement number No. 02.a03.21.0008). The third author was also supported by the MESRK grant AP05133271. No new data was collected or generated during the course of research.

	CKN, REMAINDERS AND SUPERWEIGHTS	33
4.	Stability of anisotropic L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities	46
5.	Critical Hardy inequalities of logarithmic type	
	and uncertainty principle	47
6.	Critical and subcritical Hardy inequalities	51
7.	Extended Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities	52
8.	L^p -Hardy inequalities with superweights	57
9.	Higher order inequalities	59
References		60

1. INTRODUCTION

The aim of this paper is to give an extension of the classical Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg (CKN) inequalities [CKN84] with respect to ranges of parameters and to investigate the remainders and stability of the weighted L^p -Hardy inequalities. Moreover, our methods also provide sharp constants for the CKN inequality for known ranges of parameters as well as give an improvement by replacing the full gradient by the radial derivative. We also obtain the critical case of the CKN inequality with logarithmic terms, and investigate the remainders and other properties in the case when CKN inequalities reduce to the weighted Hardy inequalities. For the latter, we also establish L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities with more general weights of the form $\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^m}$, allowing for different choices of m, α , and β .

1.1. Extended Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities. Let us recall the classical Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequality [CKN84]:

Theorem 1.1. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$ and let p, q, r, a, b, d, $\delta \in \mathbb{R}$ such that $p, q \ge 1, r > 0$, $0 \le \delta \le 1$, and

(1.1)
$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{a}{n}, \frac{1}{q} + \frac{b}{n}, \frac{1}{r} + \frac{c}{n} > 0,$$

where $c = \delta d + (1 - \delta)b$. Then there exists a positive constant C such that

(1.2)
$$||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le C ||x|^a |\nabla f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} ||x|^b f||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}$$

holds for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ if and only if the following conditions hold:

(1.3)
$$\frac{1}{r} + \frac{c}{n} = \delta\left(\frac{1}{p} + \frac{a-1}{n}\right) + (1-\delta)\left(\frac{1}{q} + \frac{b}{n}\right),$$

(1.4)
$$a-d \ge 0 \quad \text{if} \quad \delta > 0,$$

(1.5)
$$a-d \le 1 \text{ if } \delta > 0 \text{ and } \frac{1}{r} + \frac{c}{n} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{a-1}{n}.$$

The first aim of this paper is to extend the CKN inequalities for general functions with respect to widening the range of indices (1.1). Moreover, another improvement will be achieved by replacing the full gradient ∇f in (1.2) by the radial derivative $\mathcal{R}f = \frac{\partial f}{\partial r}$. It turns out that such improved versions can be established with sharp constants, and to hold both in the isotropic and anisotropic settings.

To compare with Theorem 1.1 let us first formulate the isotropic version of our extension in the usual setting of \mathbb{R}^n .

Theorem 1.2. Let $n \in \mathbb{N}$, $1 < p, q < \infty$, $0 < r < \infty$, with $p + q \ge r$, $\delta \in [0,1] \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$ and $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume that $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$, $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$. If $n \neq p(1-a)$, then for any function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ we have

(1.6)
$$|||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta} \left|||x|^a \left(\frac{x}{|x|} \cdot \nabla f\right)\right||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} \left||x|^b f\right||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}.$$

In the critical case n = p(1-a) for any function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ we have

(1.7)
$$||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le p^{\delta} \left\| |x|^a \log |x| \left(\frac{x}{|x|} \cdot \nabla f \right) \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} \left\| |x|^b f \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}$$

for any homogeneous quasi-norm $|\cdot|$. If $|\cdot|$ is the Euclidean norm on \mathbb{R}^n , inequalities (1.6) and (1.7) imply, respectively,

(1.8)
$$||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta} ||x|^a \nabla f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} \left||x|^b f||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}$$

for $n \neq p(1-a)$, and

(1.9)
$$||x|^{c} f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq p^{\delta} ||x|^{a} \log |x| \nabla f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\delta} ||x|^{b} f||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1-\delta}$$

for n = p(1-a). The inequality (1.6) holds for any homogeneous quasi-norm $|\cdot|$, and the constant $\left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta}$ is sharp for p = q with a - b = 1 or for $p \neq q$ with $p(1-a) + bq \neq 0$. Furthermore, the constants $\left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta}$ and p^{δ} are sharp for $\delta = \overline{0, 1}$.

Note that if the conditions (1.1) hold, then the inequality (1.8) is contained in the family of Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities in Theorem 1.1. However, already in this case, if we require p = q with a - b = 1 or $p \neq q$ with $p(1 - a) + bq \neq 0$, then (1.8) yields the inequality (1.2) with sharp constant. Moreover, the constants $\left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta}$ and p^{δ} are sharp for $\delta = 0$ or $\delta = 1$. Our conditions $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$ and $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$ imply the condition (1.3) of the Theorem 1.1, as well as (1.4)-(1.5) which are all necessary for having estimates of this type, at least under the conditions (1.1).

If the conditions (1.1) are not satisfied, then the inequality (1.8) is not covered by Theorem 1.1. So, this gives an extension of Theorem 1.1 with respect to the range of parameters. In this sense, we call the obtained inequalities to be 'extended Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg', from the point of view of an extension of the range of parameters (although Theorem 1.2 does not imply Theorem 1.1). The conditions (1.1) in Theorem 1.1 can be considered as 'integrability' conditions, in particular ensuring the behaviour at the origin; however, both Theorem 1.2 and Theorem 1.1 apply to functions in $C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$. Let us give an example of an extension of the range of parameters:

Example 1.3. Let us take $1 , <math>a = -\frac{n-2p}{p}$, $b = -\frac{n}{p}$ and $c = -\frac{n-\delta p}{p}$. Then by (1.8) for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ we have the inequality (1.10)

$$\left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{\frac{n-\delta p}{p}}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left\|\frac{\nabla f}{|x|^{\frac{n-2p}{p}}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} \left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{\frac{n}{p}}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}, \quad 1$$

where ∇ is the standard gradient in \mathbb{R}^n . Since we have

$$\frac{1}{q} + \frac{b}{n} = \frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{n}\left(-\frac{n}{p}\right) = 0,$$

we see that (1.1) fails, so that the inequality (1.10) is not covered by Theorem 1.1.

Although these results are new already in the usual setting of \mathbb{R}^n , our techniques apply well also for the anisotropic structures. Consequently, it is convenient to work in the setting of homogeneous groups developed by Folland and Stein [FS82] with an idea of emphasising general results of harmonic analysis depending only on the group and dilation structures. In particular, in this way we obtain results on the anisotropic \mathbb{R}^n , on the Heisenberg group, general stratified groups, graded groups, etc. In the special case of stratified groups (or homogeneous Carnot groups), other formulations using horizontal gradient are possible, and we refer to [RS17c] and especially to [RS17b] and [RSY17b] for versions of such results and the discussion of the corresponding literature.

The improved versions of the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequality for radially symmetric functions with respect to the range of parameters was investigated in [NDD12]. In [ZHD15] and [HZ11], weighted Hardy type inequalities were obtained for the generalised Baouendi-Grushin vector fields, which is when $\gamma = 0$ gives the standard gradient in \mathbb{R}^n . We also refer to [HNZ11], [Han15] for weighted Hardy inequalities on the Heisenberg group, to [HZD11] and [ZHD14] on the H-type groups, and a recent paper [Yac17] on Lie groups of polynomial growth as well as to the references therein.

Some results of this paper were announced in [RSY17a]. For Hardy inequalities on homogeneous groups we refer to [RS17d].

In Section 2 we very briefly recall the necessary notions and fix the notation in more detail. Assuming the notation there, Theorem 1.2 is the special case of the following theorem that we prove in this paper:

Theorem 1.4. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension Q. Let $|\cdot|$ be an arbitrary homogeneous quasi-norm on \mathbb{G} . Let $1 < p, q < \infty, 0 < r < \infty$ with $p+q \ge r, \delta \in [0,1] \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$ and $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume that $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$ and $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$. Then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ we have the following Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequalities, with $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ being the radial derivative: If $Q \neq p(1-a)$, then

$$||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{G})} \le \left|\frac{p}{Q - p(1 - a)}\right|^{\delta} ||x|^a \mathcal{R} f||_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \left||x|^b f\right||_{L^q(\mathbb{G})}^{1 - \delta},$$

where the constant $\left|\frac{p}{Q-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta}$ is sharp for p = q with a - b = 1 or $p \neq q$ with $p(1-a) + bq \neq 0$. If Q = p(1-a), then

$$||x|^{c}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})} \leq p^{\delta} ||x|^{a} \log |x|\mathcal{R}f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} ||x|^{b}f||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})}^{1-\delta}.$$

Moreover, the constants $\left|\frac{p}{Q-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta}$ and p^{δ} are sharp for $\delta = \overline{0,1}$.

1.2. L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities. Let us recall the following L^p -weighted Hardy inequality:

(1.11)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\nabla f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx \ge \left(\frac{n-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$

for every function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)$, where $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{n-p}{p}$ and $2 \le p < n$. The inequality (1.11) is a special case of the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities [CKN84], recalled also in Theorem 1.1. Since in this paper we are also interested in remainder estimates for the L^p -weighted Hardy inequality, let us introduce known results in this direction. Overall, the study of remainders in Hardy and other related inequalities is a classical topic going back to [BL85, BM97, BV97].

Ghoussoub and Moradifam [GM08] proved that there exists no strictly positive function $V \in C^1(0, \infty)$ such that the inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla f|^2 dx \ge \left(\frac{n-2}{2}\right)^2 \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f|^2}{|x|^2} dx + \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} V(|x|) |f|^2 dx$$

holds for any $f \in W^{1,2}(\mathbb{R}^n)$. Cianchi and Ferone [CF08] showed that for all 1 there exists a constant <math>C = C(p, n) such that

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |\nabla f|^p dx \ge \left(\frac{n-p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f|^p}{|x|^p} dx \left(1 + Cd_p(f)^{2p^*}\right)$$

holds for all real-valued weakly differentiable functions f in \mathbb{R}^n such that f and $|\nabla f| \in L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)$ go to zero at infinity. Here

$$d_p f = \inf_{c \in \mathbb{R}} \frac{\|f - c|x|^{-\frac{n-p}{p}}\|_{L^{p^*,\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n)}}{\|f\|_{L^{p^*,p}(\mathbb{R}^n)}}$$

with $p^* = \frac{np}{n-p}$, and $L^{\tau,\sigma}(\mathbb{R}^n)$ is the Lorentz space for $0 < \tau \leq \infty$ and $1 \leq \sigma \leq \infty$. In the case of a bounded domain Ω , Wang and Willem [WW03] for p = 2 and Abdellaoui, Colorado, and Peral [ACP05] for 1 investigated the improved type of (1.11) (see also [ST15a] and [ST15b] for more details).

For more general Lie group discussions of the above inequalities we refer to recent papers [RS17c], [RS17a], and [RS17b] as well as the references therein.

Sometimes the improved versions of different inequalities, or remainder estimates, are called stability of the inequality if the estimates depend on certain distances: see, e.g., [BJOS16] for stability of trace theorems, [CFW13] for stability of Sobolev inequalities, etc.

We also note that Sano and Takahashi obtained the improved version of (1.11) in [ST15a] for $\Omega = \mathbb{R}^n$ and $\alpha = 0$ and then in [ST15b] for any $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{n-p}{p}$: Let $n \ge 3, 2 \le p < n$ and $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{n-p}{p}$. Let $N \in \mathbb{N}, t \in (0,1), \gamma < \min\{1-t, \frac{p-N}{p}\}$

and $\delta = N - n + \frac{N}{1 - t - \gamma} \left(\gamma + \frac{n - p - \alpha p}{p} \right)$. Then there exists a constant C > 0 such that the inequality

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\nabla f|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx - \left(\frac{n-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f|^p}{|x|^{p(\alpha+1)}} dx \ge C \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f|^{\frac{N}{1-t-\gamma}} |x|^{\delta} dx\right)^{\frac{p(1-t-\gamma)}{Nt}}}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx\right)^{\frac{1-t}{t}}}$$

holds for any radially symmetric function $f \in W^{1,p}_{0,\alpha}(\mathbb{R}^n), f \neq 0.$

For the convenience of the reader we now briefly recapture the main results of this part of the paper, formulating them directly in the anisotropic cases following the notation recalled in Section 2. Thus, we show that for a homogeneous group \mathbb{G} of homogeneous dimension Q and any homogeneous quasi-norm $|\cdot|$ we have the following results:

• (Remainder estimates for the L^p -weighted Hardy inequality) Let $2 \leq p < Q, -\infty < \alpha < \frac{Q-p}{p}$ and $\delta_1 = Q - p - \alpha p - \frac{Q+pb}{p}, \delta_2 = Q - p - \alpha p - \frac{bp}{p-1}$ for any $b \in \mathbb{R}$. Then for all functions $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathcal{R}f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx - \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$
$$\geq C_p \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_1} dx\right)^p}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_2} dx\right)^{p-1}},$$

where $C_p = c_p \left| \frac{Q(p-1)-pb}{p^2} \right|^p$, $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ is the radial derivative and $c_p = \min_{0 < t \le 1/2} ((1-t)^p - t^p + pt^{p-1})$. This family is a new result already in the standard setting of \mathbb{R}^n .

• (Stability of Hardy inequalities) Let $2 \le p < Q$ and $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{Q-p}{p}$. Then for all radial functions $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ we have the stability estimate

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathcal{R}f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx - \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$
$$\geq c_p \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^p \sup_{R>0} d_R(f, c_f(R)f_\alpha)^p,$$

where $c_f(R) = R^{\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}} \tilde{f}(R)$ with $f(x) = \tilde{f}(r)$, r = |x|, $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ is the radial derivative, c_p is defined in Lemma 2.1, f_α and $d_R(\cdot, \cdot)$ are defined in (4.1) and (4.2), respectively.

• (Critical Hardy inequalities of logarithmic type) Let $1 < \gamma < \infty$ and let $\max\{1, \gamma - 1\} . Then for all <math>f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ and all R > 0 we have

$$\frac{p}{\gamma-1} \left\| \frac{\mathcal{R}f}{|x|^{\frac{Q-p}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|} \right)^{\frac{\gamma-p}{p}}} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \geq \left\| \frac{f-f_{R}}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|} \right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})},$$

where $f_R = f\left(R\frac{x}{|x|}\right)$, where $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ is the radial derivative, and the constant $\frac{p}{\gamma-1}$ is optimal. In the Abelian case, this result was obtained in [MOW15]. In the case $\gamma = p$ this result on the homogeneous group was proved in [RS16].

• (Uncertainty inequalities) Let 1 and <math>q > 1 be such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{2}$. Let $1 < \gamma < \infty$ and $\max\{1, \gamma - 1\} . Then for any <math>R > 0$ and $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ we have the uncertainty inequalities

$$\left\|\frac{\mathcal{R}f}{|x|^{\frac{Q-p}{p}}\left(\log\frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-p}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \|f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})} \geq \frac{\gamma-1}{p} \left\|\frac{f(f-f_{R})}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}}\left(\log\frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{G})}$$

where $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ is the radial derivative (see (2.4)). Moreover,

$$\left\|\frac{\mathcal{R}f}{\left|x\right|^{\frac{Q-p}{p}}\left(\log\frac{R}{\left|x\right|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-p}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}\left\|\frac{f-f_{R}}{\left|x\right|^{\frac{Q}{p'}}\left(\log\frac{R}{\left|x\right|}\right)^{2-\frac{\gamma}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{G})}$$
$$\geq \frac{\gamma-1}{p}\left\|\frac{f-f_{R}}{\left|x\right|^{\frac{Q}{2}}\log\frac{R}{\left|x\right|}}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{G})}^{2}$$

holds for $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$.

• (Relation between critical and subcritical Hardy inequalities) Let $Q \ge m+1 \ge 3$ with $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm. Then for any nonnegative radial function $g \in C_0^1(B^m(0, R) \setminus \{0\})$, there exists a nonnegative radial function $f \in C_0^1(B^Q(0, 1) \setminus \{0\})$ such that

$$\begin{split} \int_{B^Q(0,1)} |\mathcal{R}f|^m dx &- \left(\frac{Q-m}{m}\right)^m \int_{B^Q(0,1)} \frac{|f|^m}{|x|^m} dx \\ &= \frac{|\sigma|}{|\widetilde{\sigma}|} \left(\frac{Q-m}{m-1}\right)^{m-1} \\ \times \left(\int_{B^m(0,R)} |\mathcal{R}g|^m dz - \left(\frac{m-1}{m}\right)^m \int_{B^m(0,R)} \frac{|g|^m}{|z|^m \left(\log \frac{Re}{|z|}\right)^m} dz \right) \end{split}$$

holds true, where $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ is the radial derivative, $|\sigma|$ and $|\tilde{\sigma}|$ are Q-1 and m-1 dimensional surface measure of the unit quasi-sphere, respectively.

1.3. L^p -Hardy inequalities with superweights. The classical Hardy inequalities and their extensions, such as the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities, usually involve the weights of the form $\frac{1}{|x|^m}$. In this paper, we also consider the weights of the form $\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^m}$ allowing for different choices of α and β . If $\alpha = 0$ or $\beta = 0$, this reduces to traditional weights. So, we are interested in the case when $\alpha\beta \neq 0$ and, in fact, we obtain two families of inequalities depending on whether $\alpha\beta > 0$ or $\alpha\beta < 0$. Moreover, $|\cdot|$ in these expressions can be an arbitrary homogeneous quasi-norm and the constants for the obtained inequalities are sharp. The freedom in choosing parameters α, β, a, b, m and a quasi-norm led us to calling these weights the 'superweights' in this context.

Again, the obtained estimates will include both the isotropic and anisotropic settings of \mathbb{R}^n , for which our range of obtained estimates appears also to be new. Namely, already in the Euclidean case of \mathbb{R}^n with the Euclidean norm, they extend

the inequalities that have been known for p = 2 for some range of parameters from [GM11] to the full range of 1 .

Therefore, we can again work on the homogeneous groups. To summarise, on a homogeneous group \mathbb{G} with homogeneous dimension Q for any homogeneous quasinorm $|\cdot|$ on \mathbb{G} , all a, b > 0 and 1 we prove that

• If $\alpha\beta > 0$ and $pm \leq Q - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$, we have

(1.12)
$$\frac{Q-pm-p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$

If $Q \neq pm + p$, then the constant $\frac{Q-pm-p}{p}$ is sharp. • If $\alpha\beta < 0$ and $pm - \alpha\beta \leq Q - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$, we have

(1.13)
$$\frac{Q-pm+\alpha\beta-p}{p}\left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}}\mathcal{R}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$

If $Q \neq pm + p - \alpha\beta$, then the constant $\frac{Q - pm + \alpha\beta - p}{p}$ is sharp.

As noted before, the weights in the inequalities (1.12) and (1.13) are called superweights since the constants $\frac{Q-pm-p}{p}$ in (1.12) and $\frac{Q-pm+\alpha\beta-p}{p}$ in (1.13) are sharp for arbitrary homogeneous quasi-norm $|\cdot|$ of $\mathbb G$ and wide range of choices of the allowed parameters α, β, a, b , and m. Directly from the inequalities (1.12) and (1.13), choosing different α, β, a, b, m , and Q, one can obtain a number of Hardy type inequalities which have various consequences and applications. For instance, in the Abelian (isotropic or anisotropic) case $\mathbb{G} = (\mathbb{R}^n, +)$, we have Q = n, so for any quasi-norm $|\cdot|$ on \mathbb{R}^n , all a, b > 0 and 1 these imply new inequalities.Thus, if $\alpha\beta > 0$ and $pm \leq n-p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, we have

(1.14)
$$\frac{n-pm-p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \frac{df}{d|x|} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

with the constant being sharp for $n \neq pm + p$.

If
$$\alpha\beta < 0$$
 and $pm - \alpha\beta \le n - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, we have

(1.15)
$$\frac{n - pm + \alpha\beta - p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a + b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a + b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \frac{df}{d|x|} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

with the sharp constant for $n \neq pm + p - \alpha\beta$. In the case of the standard Euclidean distance $|x| = \sqrt{x_1^2 + \ldots + x_n^2}$ by using the Schwartz inequality from the inequalities (1.14) and (1.15) we obtain that if $\alpha\beta > 0$ and $pm \leq n-p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \backslash \{0\})$

(1.16)
$$\frac{n-pm-p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \nabla f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

with the constant sharp for $n \neq pm + p$.

If $\alpha\beta < 0$ and $pm - \alpha\beta \le n - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, we have

(1.17)
$$\frac{n-pm+\alpha\beta-p}{p}\left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq \left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}}\nabla f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}$$

with the sharp constant for $n \neq pm + p - \alpha\beta$. The L^2 -version, that is, when p = 2 the inequalities (1.16) and (1.17) were obtained in [GM11]. We also shall note that these inequalities have interesting applications in theory of ODE (see [GM11, Theorem 2.1]).

In Section 8 we give the main result of this part and give its short proof. Some higher order versions of the obtained inequalities are discussed briefly in Section 9.

In Section 2 we briefly recall the main concepts of homogeneous groups and fix the notation. In Section 5 we present critical Hardy inequalities of logarithmic type and uncertainty type principles on homogeneous groups. The remainder estimates for L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities on homogeneous groups are proved in Section 3. Moreover, in Section 4 we also investigate another improved version of L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities involving a distance. In Section 6 the relation between the critical and the subcritical Hardy inequalities on homogeneous groups is investigated. In Section 7 we introduce Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequalities on homogenous groups and prove their extended version.

2. Preliminaries

In this section we very briefly recall the necessary notation concerning the setting of homogeneous groups following Folland and Stein [FS82] as well as a recent treatise [FR16]. We also recall a few other facts that will be used in the proofs. A connected simply connected Lie group \mathbb{G} is called a *homogeneous group* if its Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} is equipped with a family of the following dilations:

$$D_{\lambda} = \operatorname{Exp}(A \ln \lambda) = \sum_{k=0}^{\infty} \frac{1}{k!} (\ln(\lambda)A)^{k},$$

where A is a diagonalisable positive linear operator on \mathfrak{g} , and every D_{λ} is a morphism of \mathfrak{g} , that is,

$$\forall X, Y \in \mathfrak{g}, \, \lambda > 0, \, [D_{\lambda}X, D_{\lambda}Y] = D_{\lambda}[X, Y],$$

holds. We recall that $Q := \operatorname{Tr} A$ is called the homogeneous dimension of \mathbb{G} .

A homogeneous group is a nilpotent (Lie) group and exponential mapping $\exp_{\mathbb{G}}$: $\mathfrak{g} \to \mathbb{G}$ of this group is a global diffeomorphism. Thus, this implies the dilation structure, and this dilation is denoted by $D_{\lambda}x$ or just by λx , on homogeneous groups.

Then we have

(2.1)
$$|D_{\lambda}(S)| = \lambda^{Q}|S|$$
 and $\int_{\mathbb{G}} f(\lambda x)dx = \lambda^{-Q} \int_{\mathbb{G}} f(x)dx.$

Here dx is the Haar measure on homogeneous groups \mathbb{G} and |S| is the volume of a measurable set $S \subset \mathbb{G}$. The Haar measure on a homogeneous group \mathbb{G} is the standard Lebesgue measure for \mathbb{R}^n (see, for example, [FR16, Proposition 1.6.6]).

Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm on \mathbb{G} . Then the quasi-ball centred at $x \in \mathbb{G}$ with radius R > 0 is defined by

$$B(x,R) := \{ y \in \mathbb{G} : |x^{-1}y| < R \}.$$

The following notation will also be used in this paper:

$$B^{c}(x,R) := \{ y \in \mathbb{G} : |x^{-1}y| \ge R \}.$$

We refer to [FS82] for the proof of the following important polar decomposition on homogeneous Lie groups, which can also be found in [FR16, Section 3.1.7]: there is a (unique) positive Borel measure σ on the unit quasi-sphere

(2.2)
$$\mathfrak{S} := \{ x \in \mathbb{G} : |x| = 1 \},$$

so that for every $f \in L^1(\mathbb{G})$ we have

(2.3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} f(x)dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} f(ry)r^{Q-1}d\sigma(y)dr$$

Let us now fix a basis $\{X_1, \ldots, X_n\}$ of a Lie algebra \mathfrak{g} such that

$$AX_k = \nu_k X_k$$

for every k, so that the matrix A can be taken to be $A = \text{diag}(\nu_1, \ldots, \nu_n)$. Then every X_k is homogeneous of degree ν_k and

$$Q = \nu_1 + \dots + \nu_n.$$

The decomposition of $\exp_{\mathbb{G}}^{-1}(x)$ in \mathfrak{g} defines the vector

$$e(x) = (e_1(x), \dots, e_n(x))$$

by the formula

$$\exp_{\mathbb{G}}^{-1}(x) = e(x) \cdot \nabla \equiv \sum_{j=1}^{n} e_j(x) X_j,$$

where $\nabla = (X_1, \ldots, X_n)$. It implies the equality

$$x = \exp_{\mathbb{G}} \left(e_1(x) X_1 + \ldots + e_n(x) X_n \right).$$

Taking into account the homogeneity and denoting $x = ry, y \in \mathfrak{S}$, one has

$$e(x) = e(ry) = (r^{\nu_1}e_1(y), \dots, r^{\nu_n}e_n(y)).$$

So we have

$$\frac{d}{d|x|}f(x) = \frac{d}{dr}f(ry) = \frac{d}{dr}f(\exp_{\mathbb{G}}\left(r^{\nu_{1}}e_{1}(y)X_{1} + \ldots + r^{\nu_{n}}e_{n}(y)X_{n}\right)).$$

We use the notation

(2.4)
$$\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{dr}$$

that is,

(2.5)
$$\frac{d}{d|x|}f(x) = \mathcal{R}f(x) \ \forall x \in \mathbb{G}$$

for any homogeneous quasi-norm |x| on \mathbb{G} . Let us recall the following lemma, which will be used in our proof.

Lemma 2.1 ([FS08]). Let $p \ge 2$ and let a, b be real numbers. Then there exists $c_p > 0$ such that

$$|a - b|^p \ge |a|^p - p|a|^{p-2}ab + c_p|b|^p$$

holds, where $c_p = \min_{0 < t \le 1/2} ((1-t)^p - t^p + pt^{p-1})$ is sharp in this inequality.

We will also use the following result (see [ORS16] and [RS16e]) with anisotropic Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequality:

Theorem 2.2 ([ORS16]). Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension Q. Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm. Let $a, b \in \mathbb{R}$, and $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$. Then we have

n - 1

$$(2.6) \quad \left|\frac{Q-(a+b+1)}{p}\right| \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f|^p}{|x|^{a+b+1}} dx \le \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathcal{R}f|^p}{|x|^{ap}} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f|^p}{|x|^{\frac{bp}{p-1}}} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

where \mathcal{R} is defined in (2.4), $1 , and the constant <math>\left| \frac{Q-(a+b+1)}{p} \right|$ is sharp.

3. On remainder estimates of anisotropic L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities

In this section we obtain a family of remainder estimates in the weighted L^p -Hardy inequalities, with a freedom of choosing the parameter $b \in \mathbb{R}$. The obtained remainder estimates are new already in the standard setting of \mathbb{R}^n .

Theorem 3.1. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension $Q \geq 3$. Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm. Let $2 \leq p < Q$, $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{Q-p}{p}$ and $\delta_1 = Q - p - \alpha p - \frac{Q+pb}{p}$, $\delta_2 = Q - p - \alpha p - \frac{bp}{p-1}$ for any $b \in \mathbb{R}$. Then for all functions $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ we have

(3.1)
$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathcal{R}f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx - \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$
$$\geq C_p \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_1} dx\right)^p}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_2} dx\right)^{p-1}},$$

where \mathcal{R} is defined in (2.4), $C_p = c_p \left| \frac{Q(p-1)-pb}{p^2} \right|^p$, and $c_p = \min_{0 < t \le 1/2} ((1-t)^p - t^p + pt^{p-1}).$

Remark 3.2. Since the inequality (3.1) holds for any $b \in \mathbb{R}$, choosing $b = \frac{Q(p-1)}{p}$ so that $C_p = 0$, we obtain the L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities on homogeneous groups:

(3.2)
$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathcal{R}f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx \ge \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx,$$
$$-\infty < \alpha < \frac{Q-p}{p}, \ 2 \le p < Q,$$

for all functions $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$. In the Abelian case $\mathbb{G} = (\mathbb{R}^n, +)$ with Q = n, the inequality (3.2) gives the L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities for any quasi-norm on \mathbb{R}^n : For any function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ we have

$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \frac{df(x)}{d|x|} \right|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx \ge \left(\frac{n-p-\alpha p}{p} \right)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{p(\alpha+1)}} dx,$$

where $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{n-p}{p}$ and $2 \le p < n$. By Schwarz's inequality with the standard Euclidean distance $|x| = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \ldots + x_n^2}$, we obtain the Euclidean form of the

 L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities on \mathbb{R}^n :

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\nabla f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx &\geq \left(\frac{n-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx, \\ &\quad -\infty < \alpha < \frac{n-p}{p}, \ 2 \leq p < n, \end{split}$$

for any function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$, where ∇ is the standard gradient in \mathbb{R}^n .

Remark 3.3. We also note that in the Abelian case, (3.1) implies a new remainder estimate for any quasi-norm on \mathbb{R}^n : For any function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and for any $b \in \mathbb{R}$, we obtain

(3.3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \left| \frac{df(x)}{d|x|} \right|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx - \left(\frac{n-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{p(\alpha+1)}} dx$$
$$\geq C_p \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_1} dx\right)^p}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_2} dx\right)^{p-1}}, \quad 2 \le p < n, \ -\infty < \alpha < \frac{n-p}{p}.$$

As in Remark 3.2, by Schwarz's inequality with the standard Euclidean distance, we obtain the Euclidean version of the remainder estimate for L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities:

(3.4)
$$\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|\nabla f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx - \left(\frac{n-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{R}^n} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$
$$\geq C_p \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_1} dx\right)^p}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{R}^n} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_2} dx\right)^{p-1}}, \quad 2 \le p < n, \ -\infty < \alpha < \frac{n-p}{p},$$

for every function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and for any $b \in \mathbb{R}$, where ∇ is the standard gradient in \mathbb{R}^n .

Thus, we note that the remainder estimate (3.4) is new already in the standard setting of \mathbb{R}^n .

Proof of Theorem 3.1. First let us show the statement of Theorem 3.1 for a radial function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$. Since f is radial, f can be represented as $f(x) = \tilde{f}(|x|)$. By Brezis-Vázquez's idea ([BV97]), we define

(3.5)
$$\widetilde{g}(r) = r^{\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}} \widetilde{f}(r).$$

Since $\tilde{f} = \tilde{f}(r) \in C_0^{\infty}(0,\infty)$ and $\alpha < \frac{Q-p}{p}$, we obtain $\tilde{g}(0) = 0$ and $\tilde{g}(\infty) = 0$. We set $g(x) = \tilde{g}(|x|)$ for $x \in \mathbb{G}$. Introducing polar coordinates $(r, y) = (|x|, \frac{x}{|x|}) \in (0,\infty) \times \mathfrak{S}$ on \mathbb{G} and using (2.3), we have

$$J := \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}f|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx - \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f|^p}{|x|^{p(\alpha+1)}} dx$$
$$= |\sigma| \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{d}{dr} \tilde{f}(r) \right|^p r^{-\alpha p+Q-1} dr - |\sigma| \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_0^\infty |\tilde{f}(r)|^p r^{-p(\alpha+1)+Q-1} dr$$
$$= |\sigma| \int_0^\infty \left| \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right) r^{-\frac{Q-\alpha p}{p}} \tilde{g}(r) - r^{-\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}} \frac{d}{dr} \tilde{g}(r) \right|^p r^{Q-1-\alpha p} dr$$
$$- |\sigma| \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_0^\infty |\tilde{g}(r)|^p r^{-1} dr,$$

where $|\sigma|$ is the Q-1 dimensional surface measure of the unit quasi-sphere. Here applying Lemma 2.1 to the integrand of the first term in the last expression above, we get

$$\begin{split} \left| \left(\frac{Q - p - \alpha p}{p} \right) r^{-\frac{Q - \alpha p}{p}} \widetilde{g}(r) - r^{-\frac{Q - p - \alpha p}{p}} \frac{d}{dr} \widetilde{g}(r) \right|^{p} r^{Q - 1 - \alpha p} \\ &\geq \left(\left(\frac{Q - p - \alpha p}{p} \right)^{p} r^{-Q + \alpha p} |\widetilde{g}(r)|^{p} \right) r^{Q - 1 - \alpha p} \\ - p \left(\frac{Q - p - \alpha p}{p} \right)^{p - 1} |\widetilde{g}(r)|^{p - 2} \widetilde{g}(r) \frac{d}{dr} \widetilde{g}(r) r^{-\left(\frac{Q - \alpha p}{p}\right)(p - 1)} r^{-\left(\frac{Q - p - \alpha p}{p}\right)} r^{Q - 1 - \alpha p} \\ &+ c_{p} \left| \frac{d}{dr} \widetilde{g}(r) \right|^{p} r^{-Q + p + \alpha p} r^{Q - 1 - \alpha p} \\ &= \left(\frac{Q - p - \alpha p}{p} \right)^{p} r^{-1} |\widetilde{g}(r)|^{p} - p \left(\frac{Q - p - \alpha p}{p} \right)^{p - 1} |\widetilde{g}(r)|^{p - 2} \widetilde{g}(r) \frac{d}{dr} \widetilde{g}(r) \\ &+ c_{p} \left| \frac{d}{dr} \widetilde{g}(r) \right|^{p} r^{p - 1}. \end{split}$$

Since $\widetilde{g}(0) = \widetilde{g}(\infty) = 0$ and $p \ge 2$, we note that

$$p\int_0^\infty |\widetilde{g}(r)|^{p-2}\widetilde{g}(r)\frac{d}{dr}\widetilde{g}(r)dr = \int_0^\infty \frac{d}{dr}(|\widetilde{g}(r)|^p)dr = 0.$$

This gives a "ground state representation" ([FS08]) of the Hardy difference J:

(3.6)
$$J \ge c_p |\sigma| \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{d}{dr} \widetilde{g}(r) \right|^p r^{p-1} dr = c_p \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}g(x)|^p |x|^{p-Q} dx.$$

Putting $a = \frac{Q-p}{p}$ in (2.6), we obtain for any $b \in \mathbb{R}$, that

$$(3.7) \quad \left|\frac{Q(p-1)-pb}{p^2}\right| \int_{\mathbb{G}} |g|^p |x|^{-\frac{Q+pb}{p}} dx$$
$$\leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}g|^p |x|^{p-Q} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |g|^p |x|^{-\frac{bp}{p-1}} dx\right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}}.$$

It gives that

$$(3.8) \quad J \ge c_p \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}g(x)|^p |x|^{p-Q} dx \ge c_p \left| \frac{Q(p-1) - pb}{p^2} \right|^p \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |g|^p |x|^{-\frac{Q+pb}{p}} dx \right)^p}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |g|^p |x|^{-\frac{bp}{p-1}} dx \right)^{p-1}}.$$

Taking into account that $g(x) = \tilde{g}(|x|), x \in \mathbb{G}$, and (3.5), one calculates

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} |x|^{-\frac{Q+pb}{p}} |g(x)|^p dx = |\sigma| \int_0^\infty r^{Q-p-\alpha p} |\tilde{f}(r)|^p r^{-\frac{Q+pb}{p}} r^{Q-1} dx$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{Q-p-\alpha p-\frac{Q+pb}{p}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_1} dx.$$
her hand

On the other hand,

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} |x|^{-\frac{bp}{p-1}} |g(x)|^p dx = |\sigma| \int_0^\infty r^{Q-p-\alpha p} |\tilde{f}(r)|^p r^{-\frac{bp}{p-1}} r^{Q-1} dr$$
$$= \int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{Q-p-\alpha p-\frac{bp}{p-1}} dx = \int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_2} dx.$$

Putting these into (3.8), we obtain

(3.9)
$$J \ge c_p \left| \frac{Q(p-1) - pb}{p^2} \right|^p \frac{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_1} dx \right)^p}{\left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^{\delta_2} dx \right)^{p-1}}.$$

Now let us prove it for nonradial functions. We consider the radial function for a nonradial function f:

(3.10)
$$U(r) = \left(\frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^p d\sigma(y)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Using the Hölder inequality, we calculate

$$\begin{split} \frac{d}{dr}U(r) &= \frac{1}{p} \left(\frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p} d\sigma(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} p|f(ry)|^{p-2} f(ry) \overline{\frac{d}{dr}f(ry)} d\sigma(y) \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p} d\sigma(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p-1} \left| \frac{d}{dr}f(ry) \right| d\sigma(y) \\ &\leq \left(\frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p} d\sigma(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}-1} \frac{1}{|\sigma|} \left(\int_{\mathfrak{S}} \left| \frac{d}{dr}f(ry) \right|^{p} d\sigma(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p} d\sigma(y) \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \\ &= \left(\frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \left| \frac{d}{dr}f(ry) \right|^{p} d\sigma(y) \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, we have

$$\frac{d}{dr}U(r) \le \left(\frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \left|\frac{d}{dr}f(ry)\right|^p d\sigma(y)\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

It follows that

$$\begin{aligned} |\sigma| \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{d}{dr} U(r) \right|^p r^{Q-1-\alpha p} dr &\leq |\sigma| \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_\mathfrak{S} \left| \frac{d}{dr} f(ry) \right|^p r^{Q-1-\alpha p} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}f|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx, \end{aligned}$$

that is,

(3.11)
$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}U|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx \le \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}f|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx$$

In view of (3.10), we obtain

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} |U(|x|)|^p |x|^\theta dx = |\sigma| \int_0^\infty |U(r)|^p r^{\theta + Q - 1} dr$$

(3.12)
$$= |\sigma| \int_0^\infty \frac{1}{|\sigma|} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^p d\sigma(y) r^{\theta+Q-1} dr = \int_{\mathfrak{G}} |f(x)|^p |x|^\theta dx$$

for any $\theta \in \mathbb{R}$. Then, it is easy to see that (3.11) and (3.12) imply that (3.1) holds also for all nonradial functions.

4. Stability of anisotropic L^p -weighted Hardy inequalities

In this section we establish a remainder estimate in the L^p -weighted Hardy inequality involving the distance to the set of extremisers: estimates of such type are known as stability estimates in the literature. Let us denote

(4.1)
$$f_{\alpha}(x) = |x|^{-\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}}$$

for $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{Q-p}{p}$, and we set

(4.2)
$$d_R(f,g) := \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x) - g(x)|^p}{\left| \log \frac{R}{|x|} \right|^p |x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

for functions f and g for which the integral in (4.2) is finite.

Theorem 4.1. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension $Q \geq 3$. Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm. Let $2 \leq p < Q$ and $-\infty < \alpha < \frac{Q-p}{p}$. Then for all radial functions $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ we have

(4.3)
$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathcal{R}f|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx - \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$
$$\geq c_p \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^p \sup_{R>0} d_R(f, c_f(R)f_\alpha)^p,$$

where $c_f(R) = R^{\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}} \tilde{f}(R)$ with $f(x) = \tilde{f}(r)$, |x| = r, $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ is the radial derivative, c_p is defined in Lemma 2.1, f_{α} and $d_R(\cdot, \cdot)$ are defined in (4.1) and (4.2), respectively.

Proof of Theorem 4.1. Since $p \ge 2$, as in (3.6) in the proof of Theorem 3.1, we have

$$J(f) = \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}f|^p |x|^{-\alpha p} dx - \left(\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f|^p}{|x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$

(4.4)
$$\geq c_p |\sigma| \int_0^\infty \left| \frac{d}{dr} \widetilde{g} \right|^p r^{p-1} dr = c_p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \left| \frac{d}{dr} g \right|^p |x|^{p-Q} dx.$$

By Theorem 3.1 in [RS16] or Remark 5.3 with $\gamma = p$, we obtain

$$J(f) \ge c_p \int_{\mathbb{G}} |\mathcal{R}g|^p |x|^{p-Q} dx \ge c_p \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\left|g(x) - g(\frac{Rx}{|x|})\right|^p}{\left|\log\frac{R}{|x|}\right|^p |x|^Q} dx$$
$$= c_p \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\left||x|^{\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}} f(x) - R^{\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}} f(\frac{Rx}{|x|})\right|^p}{\left|\log\frac{R}{|x|}\right|^p |x|^Q} dx$$

for any R > 0. Here using $f(x) = \widetilde{f}(r), r = |x|$, one calculates

$$J(f) \ge c_p \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\left|f(x) - R^{\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}} \widetilde{f}(R)|x|^{-\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}}\right|^p}{\left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^p |x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx$$
$$= c_p \left(\frac{p-1}{p}\right)^p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{\left|f(x) - c_f(R)|x|^{-\frac{Q-p-\alpha p}{p}}\right|^p}{\left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^p |x|^{(\alpha+1)p}} dx,$$

...

,

yielding (4.3).

5. Critical Hardy inequalities of logarithmic type and uncertainty principle

In this section, we present critical Hardy inequalities of logarithmic type on the homogeneous group \mathbb{G} . In the Abelian isotropic case, the following result was obtained in [MOW15]. In the case $\gamma = p$ this result on the homogeneous group was proved in [RS16].

Theorem 5.1. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension Q. Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm. Let $1 < \gamma < \infty$ and $\max\{1, \gamma - 1\} .$ $Then for all <math>f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$ and all R > 0 we have

(5.1)
$$\left\|\frac{f - f_R}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})} \le \frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \left\|\frac{\mathcal{R}f}{|x|^{\frac{Q-p}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-p}{p}}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}$$

where $f_R(x) = f\left(R\frac{x}{|x|}\right)$, \mathcal{R} is defined in (2.4), and the constant $\frac{p}{\gamma-1}$ is optimal.

Proof of Theorem 5.1. First, let us consider the integrals in (5.1) restricted to B(0, R). Introducing polar coordinates $(r, y) = (|x|, \frac{x}{|x|}) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathfrak{S}$ on \mathbb{G} , where \mathfrak{S} is the quasi-sphere as in (8.3), and using (2.3), we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{B(0,R)} \frac{|f(x) - f_R(x)|^p}{|x|^Q \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{\gamma}} dx \\ &= \int_0^R \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \frac{|f(ry) - f(Ry)|^p}{r^Q \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{\gamma}} r^{Q-1} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= \int_0^R \frac{d}{dr} \left(\frac{1}{(\gamma - 1) \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{\gamma - 1}} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry) - f(Ry)|^p d\sigma(y) \right) dr \\ &- \frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \operatorname{Re} \int_0^R \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{-\gamma + 1} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry) - f(Ry)|^{p-2} (f(ry) - f(Ry)) \frac{\overline{df(ry)}}{dr} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= - \frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \operatorname{Re} \int_0^R \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{-\gamma + 1} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry) - f(Ry)|^{p-2} (f(ry) - f(Ry)) \frac{\overline{df(ry)}}{dr} d\sigma(y) dr, \end{split}$$

where $p - \gamma + 1 > 0$, so that the boundary term at r = R vanishes due to inequalities

$$|f(ry) - f(Ry)| \le C(R - r),$$
$$\log \frac{R}{r} \ge \frac{R - r}{R}.$$

Then, by the Hölder inequality, we get

$$\int_0^R \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \frac{|f(ry) - f(Ry)|^p}{r \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{\gamma}} d\sigma(y) dr$$

$$\begin{split} &= -\frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \operatorname{Re} \int_0^R \left(\log \frac{R}{r} \right)^{-\gamma + 1} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry) - f(Ry)|^{p-2} (f(ry) - f(Ry)) \overline{\frac{df(ry)}{dr}} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &\leq \frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \int_0^R \left(\log \frac{R}{r} \right)^{-\gamma + 1} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry) - f(Ry)|^{p-1} \left| \frac{df(ry)}{dr} \right| d\sigma(y) dr \\ &\leq \frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \left(\int_0^R \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \frac{|f(ry) - f(Ry)|^p}{r \left(\log \frac{R}{r} \right)^{\gamma}} d\sigma(y) dr \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \\ &\times \left(\int_0^R \int_{\mathfrak{S}} r^{p-1} \left(\log \frac{R}{r} \right)^{p-\gamma} \left| \frac{df(ry)}{dr} \right|^p d\sigma(y) dr \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}. \end{split}$$

Thus, we obtain

(5.2)
$$\left(\int_{B(0,R)} \frac{|f(x) - f_R(x)|^p}{|x|^Q \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{\gamma}} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$
$$\leq \frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \left(\int_{B(0,R)} |x|^{p-Q} \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{p-\gamma} \left|\mathcal{R}f(x)\right|^p dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

Similarly, we have

(5.3)
$$\left(\int_{B^{c}(0,R)} \frac{|f(x) - f_{R}(x)|^{p}}{|x|^{Q} \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{\gamma}} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}$$

The inequalities (5.2) and (5.3) imply (5.1). Now let us prove the optimality of the constant $\frac{p}{\gamma-1}$ in (5.1). The inequality (5.1) gives that (5.4)

$$\left(\int_{B(0,R)} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^Q \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{\gamma}}\right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \leq \frac{p}{\gamma - 1} \left(\int_{B(0,R)} |x|^{p-Q} \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{p-\gamma} |\mathcal{R}f(x)|^p dx\right)^{\frac{1}{p}}.$$

It is enough to prove the optimality of the constant $\frac{p}{\gamma-1}$ in (5.4). As in the Abelian case (see [MOW15, Section 3]), we define the following sequence of functions:

$$f_k(x) := \begin{cases} (\log(kR))^{\frac{\gamma-1}{p}} & \text{when } |x| \le \frac{1}{k}, \\ (\log\frac{R}{|x|})^{\frac{\gamma-1}{p}} & \text{when } \frac{1}{k} \le |x| \le \frac{R}{2}, \\ \frac{2}{R} (\log 2)^{\frac{\gamma-1}{p}} (R - |x|) & \text{when } \frac{R}{2} \le |x| \le R \end{cases}$$

for large $k \in \mathbb{N}$. Letting $\widetilde{f}_k(r) := f_k(x)$ with $r = |x| \ge 0$, we get

$$\frac{d}{dr}\widetilde{f}_{k}(r) = \begin{cases} 0 & \text{if } r < \frac{1}{k}, \\ -\frac{\gamma - 1}{p}r^{-1}(\log\frac{R}{r})^{\frac{\gamma - 1}{p} - 1} & \text{if } \frac{1}{k} < r < \frac{R}{2}, \\ -\frac{2}{R}(\log 2)^{\frac{\gamma - 1}{p}} & \text{if } \frac{R}{2} < r < R. \end{cases}$$

Denoting by $|\sigma|$ the Q-1 dimensional surface measure of the unit quasi-sphere, by a direct calculation one has

$$\int_{B(0,R)} |x|^{p-Q} \left| \log \frac{R}{|x|} \right|^{p-\gamma} |\mathcal{R}f_k(x)|^p dx = |\sigma| \int_0^R r^{p-1} \left| \log \frac{R}{r} \right|^{p-\gamma} \left| \frac{d}{dr} \tilde{f}_k(r) \right|^p dr$$
$$= |\sigma| \left(\frac{\gamma - 1}{p} \right)^p \int_{\frac{1}{k}}^{\frac{R}{2}} r^{-1} \left(\log \frac{R}{r} \right)^{-1} dr$$
$$+ |\sigma| (\log 2)^{\gamma - 1} \left(\frac{2}{R} \right)^p \int_{\frac{R}{2}}^R r^{p-1} \left(\log \frac{R}{r} \right)^{p-\gamma} dr$$

(5.5)
$$= |\sigma| \left(\frac{\gamma - 1}{p}\right)^p \left(\left(\log(\log kR)\right) - \log(\log 2)\right) + C_{\gamma, p},$$

where

$$C_{\gamma,p} := 2^{p} (\log 2)^{\gamma-1} |\sigma| \int_{0}^{\log 2} s^{p-\gamma} e^{-ps} ds$$

Since $p - \gamma + 1 > 0$, we get $C_{\gamma,q} < \infty$. On the other hand, we see

$$\int_{B(0,R)} \frac{|f_k(x)|^p}{|x|^Q \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{\gamma}} dx = |\sigma| \int_0^R \frac{|\tilde{f}_k(r)|^p}{r \left|\log \frac{R}{r}\right|^{\gamma}} dr$$
$$= |\sigma| (\log(kR))^{\gamma-1} \int_0^{\frac{1}{k}} r^{-1} \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{-\gamma} dr + |\sigma| \int_{\frac{1}{k}}^{\frac{R}{2}} r^{-1} \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{-1} dr$$
$$+ |\sigma| (\log 2)^{\gamma-1} \left(\frac{2}{R}\right)^p \int_{\frac{R}{2}}^{R} r^{-1} (R-r)^p \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{-\gamma} dr$$
$$(5.6) \qquad = \frac{|\sigma|}{\gamma-1} + |\sigma| (\log(\log(kR)) - \log(\log(2))) + C_{R,\gamma,p},$$

where

$$C_{R,\gamma,p} := (\log 2)^{\gamma-1} \left(\frac{2}{R}\right)^p |\sigma| \int_{\frac{R}{2}}^R r^{-1} (R-r)^p \left(\log \frac{R}{r}\right)^{-\gamma} dr.$$

The inequality $\log \frac{R}{r} \geq \frac{R-r}{R}$ for all $r \leq R$ and the assumption $p - \gamma > -1$ imply $C_{R,\gamma,p} < \infty$. Then, by (5.5) and (5.6), we have

$$\left(\int_{B(0,R)} |x|^{p-Q} \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{p-\gamma} |\mathcal{R}f_k(x)|^p dx\right) \times \left(\int_{B(0,R)} \frac{|f_k(x)|^p}{|x|^Q \left|\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right|^{\gamma}} dx\right)^{-1} \to \left(\frac{\gamma-1}{p}\right)^p$$

$$k \to \infty, \text{ which implies that the constant } \frac{p}{p-1} \text{ in } (5.4) \text{ is optimal.} \qquad \Box$$

as $k \to \infty$, which implies that the constant $\frac{p}{\gamma-1}$ in (5.4) is optimal.

Corollary 5.2 (Uncertainty type principle on \mathbb{G}). Let 1 and <math>q > 1 be such that $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{q} = \frac{1}{2}$. Let $1 < \gamma < \infty$ and $\max\{1, \gamma - 1\} . Then for any$ R>0 and $f\in \tilde{C}_0^\infty(\mathbb{G}\backslash\{0\})$ we have

(5.7)
$$\left\|\frac{\mathcal{R}f}{|x|^{\frac{Q-p}{p}}\left(\log\frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-p}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}\|f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})} \ge \frac{\gamma-1}{p}\left\|\frac{f(f-f_{R})}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}}\left(\log\frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{G})}$$

Moreover,

(5.8)
$$\left\|\frac{\mathcal{R}f}{\left|x\right|^{\frac{Q-p}{p}}\left(\log\frac{R}{\left|x\right|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-p}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}\left\|\frac{f-f_{R}}{\left|x\right|^{\frac{Q}{p'}}\left(\log\frac{R}{\left|x\right|}\right)^{2-\frac{\gamma}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{p'}(\mathbb{G})}$$
$$\geq \frac{\gamma-1}{p}\left\|\frac{f-f_{R}}{\left|x\right|^{\frac{Q}{2}}\log\frac{R}{\left|x\right|}}\right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{G})}^{2}$$

holds for $\frac{1}{p} + \frac{1}{p'} = 1$. Proof of Corollary 5.2. By (5.1), we have

$$\begin{aligned} \left\| \frac{\mathcal{R}f}{|x|^{\frac{Q-p}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma-p}{p}}} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \|f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})} \geq \frac{\gamma-1}{p} \left\| \frac{f-f_{R}}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}} \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \|f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})} \\ &= \frac{\gamma-1}{p} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \left| \frac{f(x)-f_{R}(x)}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|}\right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}} \right|^{2\frac{p}{2}} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}\frac{2}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(x)|^{2\frac{q}{2}} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}\frac{2}{q}}, \end{aligned}$$
and using the Hölder inequality, we obtain

and using the Holder inequality, we obtain

$$\begin{split} \left\| |x|^{\frac{p-Q}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|} \right)^{\frac{p-\gamma}{p}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \|f\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})} \\ \geq \frac{\gamma - 1}{p} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \left| \frac{f(x)(f(x) - f_{R}(x))}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|} \right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}} \right|^{2} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{2}} = \frac{\gamma - 1}{p} \left\| \frac{f(f - f_{R})}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}} \left(\log \frac{R}{|x|} \right)^{\frac{\gamma}{p}}} \right\|_{L^{2}(\mathbb{G})} \end{split}$$

Similarly, one can prove (5.8).

Remark 5.3. When $\gamma = p$, Theorem 5.1 gives [RS16, Theorem 3.1]:

(5.9)
$$\left\| \frac{f - f_R}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}} \log \frac{R}{|x|}} \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})} \le \frac{p}{p-1} \left\| |x|^{\frac{p-Q}{p}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}, \quad 1$$

for all R > 0.

6. CRITICAL AND SUBCRITICAL HARDY INEQUALITIES

In this section, we study the relation between the critical and the subcritical Hardy inequalities on homogeneous groups.

Proposition 6.1. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension $Q \ge m + 1 \ge 3$ with $m \in \mathbb{N}$. Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm. Then for any nonnegative radial function $g \in C_0^1(B^m(0, R) \setminus \{0\})$, there exists a nonnegative radial function $f \in C_0^1(B^Q(0, 1) \setminus \{0\})$ such that

(6.1)
$$\int_{B^{Q}(0,1)} |\mathcal{R}f|^{m} dx - \left(\frac{Q-m}{m}\right)^{m} \int_{B^{Q}(0,1)} \frac{|f|^{m}}{|x|^{m}} dx$$
$$= \frac{|\sigma|}{|\widetilde{\sigma}|} \left(\frac{Q-m}{m-1}\right)^{m-1} \left(\int_{B^{m}(0,R)} |\mathcal{R}g|^{m} dz - \left(\frac{m-1}{m}\right)^{m} \int_{B^{m}(0,R)} \frac{|g|^{m}}{|z|^{m} \left(\log \frac{Re}{|z|}\right)^{m}} dz\right)$$

holds true, where \mathcal{R} is defined in (2.4), $|\sigma|$ and $|\tilde{\sigma}|$ are Q-1 and m-1 dimensional surface measure of the unit quasi-sphere, respectively.

Proof of Proposition 6.1. Let $r = |x|, x \in \mathbb{G}$ and $s = |z|, z \in \widetilde{\mathbb{G}}$, where $\widetilde{\mathbb{G}}$ is a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension m. Let us define a radial function $f = f(x) \in C_0^1(B^Q(0,1) \setminus \{0\})$ for a nonnegative radial function $g = g(z) \in C_0^1(B^m(0,R) \setminus \{0\})$:

(6.2)
$$f(r) = g(s(r)),$$

where $s(r) = R \exp(1 - r^{-\frac{Q-m}{m-1}})$, that is,

$$r^{-\frac{Q-m}{m-1}} = \log \frac{Re}{s}, \ s'(r) = \frac{Q-m}{m-1}r^{-\frac{Q-m}{m-1}-1}s(r).$$

Here we see that s'(r) > 0 for $r \in [0, 1]$ and s(0) = 0, s(1) = R. Since $g(s) \equiv 0$ near s = R, we also note that $f \equiv 0$ near r = 1. Then a direct calculation shows

$$\begin{split} &\int_{B^Q(0,1)} |\mathcal{R}f|^m dx - \left(\frac{Q-m}{m}\right)^m \int_{B^Q(0,1)} \frac{|f|^m}{|x|^m} dx \\ &= |\sigma| \int_0^1 |f'(r)|^m r^{Q-1} dr - \left(\frac{Q-m}{m}\right)^m |\sigma| \int_0^1 f^m(r) r^{Q-m-1} dr \\ &= |\sigma| \int_0^R |g'(s)s'(r(s))|^m r^{Q-1}(s) \frac{ds}{s'(r(s))} \\ &- \left(\frac{Q-m}{m}\right)^m |\sigma| \int_0^R g^m(s) r^{Q-m-1}(s) \frac{ds}{s'(r(s))} \\ &= |\sigma| \left(\frac{Q-m}{m-1}\right)^{m-1} \int_0^R |g'(s)|^m s^{m-1} ds \\ &- \left(\frac{Q-m}{m}\right)^m \frac{m-1}{Q-m} |\sigma| \int_0^R \frac{g^m(s)}{s \left(\log \frac{Re}{s}\right)^m} ds \\ &= \frac{|\sigma|}{|\widetilde{\sigma}|} \left(\frac{Q-m}{m-1}\right)^{m-1} \\ \times \left(\int_{B^m(0,R)} |\mathcal{R}g|^m dz - \left(\frac{m-1}{m}\right)^m \int_{B^m(0,R)} \frac{|g|^m}{|z|^m \left(\log \frac{Re}{|z|}\right)^m} dz \right), \end{split}$$

yielding (6.1).

7. Extended Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities

In this section, we introduce new Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequalities in the Euclidean setting of \mathbb{R}^n as well as on homogeneous groups. For the convenience of the reader we recall Theorem 1.4 and then also explain how it implies Theorem 1.2:

Theorem 7.1. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension Q. Let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm. Let $1 < p, q < \infty, 0 < r < \infty$ with $p + q \ge r$ and $\delta \in [0,1] \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$ and $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume that $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$ and $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$. Then we have the following Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequalities for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$:

If $Q \neq p(1-a)$, then

(7.1)
$$||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{G})} \le \left|\frac{p}{Q - p(1 - a)}\right|^{\delta} ||x|^a \mathcal{R} f||_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \left||x|^b f||_{L^q(\mathbb{G})}^{1 - \delta}.$$

If
$$Q = p(1-a)$$
, then

(7.2)
$$|||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{G})} \le p^{\delta} |||x|^a \log |x| \mathcal{R} f||_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} |||x|^b f||_{L^q(\mathbb{G})}^{1-\delta}$$

The constant in the inequality (7.1) is sharp for p = q with a - b = 1 or $p \neq q$ with $p(1-a) + bq \neq 0$. Moreover, the constants in (7.1) and (7.2) are sharp for $\delta = 0$ or $\delta = 1$. Here $\mathcal{R} := \frac{d}{d|x|}$ is the radial derivative.

Remark 7.2. Our conditions $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$ and $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$ imply the condition (1.3) of Theorem 1.1, and in our case a - d = 1.

Remark 7.3. In the Abelian case $\mathbb{G} = (\mathbb{R}^n, +)$ and Q = n, (7.2) implies a new type of Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequality for any quasi-norm on \mathbb{R}^n : Let $1 < p, q < \infty$, $0 < r < \infty$ with $p + q \ge r$ and $\delta \in [0, 1] \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$ and $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume that $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$, n = p(1-a), and $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$. Then we have the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequality for any function $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and for any homogeneous quasi-norm $|\cdot|$:

(7.3)
$$|||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le p^{\delta} \left|||x|^a \log |x| \left(\frac{df}{d|x|}\right) \right||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} \left|||x|^b f||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}\right|$$

By the Schwarz inequality with the standard Euclidean distance given by $|x| = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \ldots + x_n^2}$, we obtain the Euclidean form of the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequality:

(7.4)
$$||x|^{c} f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{R}^{n})} \leq p^{\delta} ||x|^{a} \log |x| \nabla f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{\delta} ||x|^{b} f||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{R}^{n})}^{1-\delta}$$

where ∇ is the standard gradient in \mathbb{R}^n . Similarly, we write the inequality (7.1) in the Abelian case: Let $1 < p, q < \infty$, $0 < r < \infty$ with $p + q \ge r$ and $\delta \in [0,1] \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$ and $a, b, c \in \mathbb{R}$. Assume that $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$, $n \ne p(1-a)$, and $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$. Then we have Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequality for any function $f \in C_0^\infty(\mathbb{R}^n \setminus \{0\})$ and for any homogeneous quasi-norm $|\cdot|$:

(7.5)
$$||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta} \left||x|^a \left(\frac{df}{d|x|}\right)\right||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} \left||x|^b f\right||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}$$

Then, using the Schwarz inequality with the standard Euclidean distance given by $|x| = \sqrt{x_1^2 + x_2^2 + \ldots + x_n^2}$, we obtain the Euclidean form of the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequality:

(7.6)
$$|||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{R}^n)} \le \left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta} |||x|^a \nabla f||_{L^p(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{\delta} ||x|^b f||_{L^q(\mathbb{R}^n)}^{1-\delta}.$$

Note that if

(7.7)
$$\frac{1}{p} + \frac{a}{n} > 0, \ \frac{1}{q} + \frac{b}{n} > 0, \ \text{and} \ \frac{1}{r} + \frac{c}{n} > 0$$

hold; then the inequality (7.6) is contained in the family of Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities [CKN84]. In this case, if we require p = q with a - b = 1 or $p \neq q$ with $p(1-a) + bq \neq 0$, then we obtain the inequality (7.6) with the sharp constant. Moreover, the constants $\left|\frac{p}{n-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta}$ and p^{δ} are sharp for $\delta = 0$ or $\delta = 1$. If (7.7) is not satisfied, then the inequality (7.6) is not covered by Theorem 1.1 because condition (1.1) fails. So we obtain a new range of the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequality [CKN84].

Thus, the inequalities (7.4) and (7.6) are new already in the Abelian case and, moreover, (7.1) and (7.2) hold for any choice of homogeneous quasi-norm.

The proof of Theorem 7.1 will be based on the following family of weighted Hardy inequalities that was obtained in [RSY16, Theorem 3.4], where $\mathbb{E} = |x|\mathcal{R}$ is the Euler operator.

Theorem 7.4 ([RSY16]). Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension Q and let $\alpha \in \mathbb{R}$. Then for all complex-valued functions $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$, $1 , and any homogeneous quasi-norm <math>|\cdot|$ on \mathbb{G} for $\alpha p \neq Q$ we have

(7.8)
$$\left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{\alpha}}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left|\frac{p}{Q-\alpha p}\right| \left\|\frac{1}{|x|^{\alpha}}\mathbb{E}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$

If $\alpha p \neq Q$, then the constant $\left|\frac{p}{Q-\alpha p}\right|$ is sharp. For $\alpha p = Q$ we have (7.0) $\left\| f \right\|_{\infty} < \left\| \log |x|_{\mathbb{F}_{f}} \right\|$

(7.9)
$$\left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}}}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq p \left\|\frac{\log|x|}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}}}\mathbb{E}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})},$$

where the constant p is sharp.

We briefly recall its proof for the convenience of the reader but also since it will be useful in our argument.

Proof of Theorem 7.4. Using integration by parts, for $\alpha p \neq Q$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx &= \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^p r^{Q-1-\alpha p} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= -\frac{p}{Q-\alpha p} \int_0^\infty r^{Q-\alpha p} \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p-2} f(ry) \frac{\overline{df(ry)}}{dr} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &\leq \left| \frac{p}{Q-\alpha p} \right| \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathbb{E}f(x)||f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx = \left| \frac{p}{Q-\alpha p} \right| \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathbb{E}f(x)||f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{\alpha+\alpha(p-1)}} dx \end{split}$$

By Hölder's inequality, it follows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx \le \left| \frac{p}{Q - \alpha p} \right| \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathbb{E}f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^{\alpha p}} dx \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}},$$

which gives (7.8).

Now we show the sharpness of the constant. We need to check the equality condition in the above Hölder's inequality. Let us consider the function

(7.10)
$$g(x) = \frac{1}{|x|^C},$$

where $C \in \mathbb{R}, C \neq 0$ and $\alpha p \neq Q$. Then by a direct calculation we obtain

(7.11)
$$\left|\frac{1}{C}\right|^p \left(\frac{|\mathbb{E}g(x)|}{|x|^{\alpha}}\right)^p = \left(\frac{|g(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{\alpha(p-1)}}\right)^{\frac{p}{p-1}}$$

which satisfies the equality condition in Hölder's inequality. This gives the sharpness of the constant $\left|\frac{p}{Q-\alpha p}\right|$ in (7.8).

Now let us prove (7.9). Using integration by parts, we have

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^Q} dx &= \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^p r^{Q-1-Q} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= -p \int_0^\infty \log r \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p-2} f(ry) \frac{\overline{df(ry)}}{dr} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &\leq p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathbb{E}f(x)| |f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^Q} |\log |x|| dx = p \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathbb{E}f(x)| \log |x|| ||}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}}} \frac{|f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{\frac{Q(p-1)}{p}}} dx. \end{split}$$

By Hölder's inequality, it follows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^Q} dx \le p \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|\mathbb{E}f(x)|^p |\log |x||^p}{|x|^Q} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^p}{|x|^Q} dx \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}},$$

which gives (7.9).

Now we show the sharpness of the constant. We need to check the equality condition in the above Hölder's inequality. Let us consider the function

$$h(x) = (\log |x|)^C,$$

where $C \in \mathbb{R}$ and $C \neq 0$. Then by a direct calculation we obtain

(7.12)
$$\left|\frac{1}{C}\right|^{p} \left(\frac{|\mathbb{E}h(x)||\log|x||}{|x|^{\frac{Q}{p}}}\right)^{p} = \left(\frac{|h(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{\frac{Q(p-1)}{p}}}\right)^{\frac{p}{p-1}},$$

which satisfies the equality condition in Hölder's inequality. This gives the sharpness of the constant p in (7.9).

We are now ready to prove Theorem 7.1.

Proof of Theorem 7.1. Case $\delta = 0$. In this case, we have q = r and b = c by $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$ and $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$, respectively. Then, the inequalities (7.1) and (7.2) are equivalent to the trivial estimate

$$|||x|^{b}f||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})} \leq |||x|^{b}f||_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})}$$

Case $\delta = 1$. Notice that in this case, p = r and a - 1 = c. By Theorem 7.4, we have for $Q + pc = Q + p(a - 1) \neq 0$ the inequality

$$|||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{G})} \le \left|\frac{p}{Q+pc}\right| ||x|^c \mathbb{E} f||_{L^r(\mathbb{G})},$$

where $\mathbb{E} = |x|\mathcal{R}$ is the Euler operator. Taking this into account, we get

$$|||x|^{c}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left|\frac{p}{Q+pc}\right| |||x|^{c+1}\mathcal{R}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})}$$
$$= \left|\frac{p}{Q-p(1-a)}\right| |||x|^{a}\mathcal{R}f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})},$$

which implies (7.1). For Q + pc = Q + p(a - 1) = 0 by Theorem 7.4 we obtain

$$|||x|^{c} f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})} \leq p|||x|^{c} \log |x|\mathbb{E}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})} = p|||x|^{c+1} \log |x|\mathcal{R}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})}$$
$$= p|||x|^{a} \log |x|\mathcal{R}f||_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$

which gives (7.2). In this case, the constants in (7.1) and (7.2) are sharp, since the constants in Theorem 7.4 are sharp.

Case $\delta \in (0,1) \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$. Taking into account $c = \delta(a-1) + b(1-\delta)$, a direct calculation gives

$$||x|^{c}f||_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} |x|^{cr} |f(x)|^{r} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{r}} = \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^{\delta r}}{|x|^{\delta r(1-a)}} \cdot \frac{|f(x)|^{(1-\delta)r}}{|x|^{-br(1-\delta)}} dx\right)^{\frac{1}{r}}.$$

Since we have $\delta \in (0,1) \cap \left[\frac{r-q}{r}, \frac{p}{r}\right]$ and $p+q \ge r$, then by using Hölder's inequality for $\frac{\delta r}{p} + \frac{(1-\delta)r}{q} = 1$, we obtain

(7.13)
$$\||x|^{c}f\|_{L^{r}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^{p}}{|x|^{p(1-a)}} dx\right)^{\frac{\delta}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{|f(x)|^{q}}{|x|^{-bq}} dx\right)^{\frac{1-\delta}{q}}$$
$$= \left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{1-a}}\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{-b}}\right\|_{L^{q}(\mathbb{G})}^{1-\delta}.$$

Here we note that when p = q and a - b = 1 Hölder's equality condition is held for any function. We also note that in the case $p \neq q$ the function

(7.14)
$$h(x) = |x|^{\frac{1}{(p-q)}(p(1-a)+bq)}$$

satisfies Hölder's equality condition:

$$\frac{|h|^p}{|x|^{p(1-a)}} = \frac{|h|^q}{|x|^{-bq}}.$$

If $Q \neq p(1-a)$, then by Theorem 7.4, we have

$$\left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{1-a}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \le \left|\frac{p}{Q-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta} \left\|\frac{\mathbb{E}f}{|x|^{1-a}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta}$$

(7.15)
$$= \left| \frac{p}{Q - p(1 - a)} \right|^{\delta} \left\| \frac{\mathcal{R}f}{|x|^{-a}} \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta}, \quad 1$$

Putting this in (7.13), one has

$$||x|^c f||_{L^r(\mathbb{G})} \le \left|\frac{p}{Q-p(1-a)}\right|^{\delta} \left\|\frac{\mathcal{R}f}{|x|^{-a}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{-b}}\right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{G})}^{1-\delta}$$

We note that in the case p = q, a - b = 1 Hölder's equality condition of the inequalities (7.13) and (7.15) holds true for g(x) in (7.10). Moreover, in the case $p \neq q$, $p(1-a) + bq \neq 0$ Hölder's equality condition of the inequalities (7.13) and (7.15) holds true for h(x) in (7.14). Therefore, the constant in (7.1) is sharp when p = q, a - b = 1 or $p \neq q$, $p(1-a) + bq \neq 0$.

Now let us consider the case Q = p(1 - a). Using Theorem 7.4, one has

$$\left\|\frac{f}{|x|^{1-a}}\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \leq p^{\delta} \left\|\frac{\log |x|}{|x|^{1-a}} \mathbb{E}f\right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta}, \quad 1$$

Then, putting this in (7.13), we obtain

$$\begin{aligned} \||x|^c f\|_{L^r(\mathbb{G})} &\leq p^{\delta} \left\| \frac{\log |x|}{|x|^{1-a}} \mathbb{E}f \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \left\| \frac{f}{|x|^{-b}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{G})}^{1-\delta} \\ &= p^{\delta} \left\| \frac{\log |x|}{|x|^{-a}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}^{\delta} \left\| \frac{f}{|x|^{-b}} \right\|_{L^q(\mathbb{G})}^{1-\delta}. \end{aligned}$$

8. L^p -Hardy inequalities with superweights

We now discuss versions of Hardy inequalities with more general weights, that we call superweights. The following is the main result of this section.

Theorem 8.1. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension Q and let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm on \mathbb{G} . Let a, b > 0 and 1 .

(i) If $\alpha\beta > 0$ and $pm \leq Q - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$, we have

(8.1)
$$\frac{Q-pm-p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$

If $Q \neq pm + p$, then the constant $\frac{Q-pm-p}{p}$ is sharp.

(ii) If
$$\alpha\beta < 0$$
 and $pm - \alpha\beta \leq Q - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$, we have

(8.2)
$$\frac{Q-pm+\alpha\beta-p}{p}\left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}}\mathcal{R}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$

If
$$Q \neq pm + p - \alpha\beta$$
, then the constant $\frac{Q-pm+\alpha\beta-p}{p}$ is sharp.

Proof of Theorem 8.1. We may assume that $Q \neq pm + p$ since for Q = pm + p there is nothing to prove. Introducing polar coordinates $(r, y) = (|x|, \frac{x}{|x|}) \in (0, \infty) \times \mathfrak{S}$ on \mathfrak{G} , where \mathfrak{S} is the unit quasi-sphere

$$\mathfrak{S} := \{ x \in \mathbb{G} : |x| = 1 \},$$

and using the polar decomposition on homogeneous groups (see, for example, [FS82] or [FR16]), we have

(8.4)
$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm+p}} |f(x)|^{p} dx = \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \frac{(a+br^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{r^{pm+p}} |f(ry)|^{p} r^{Q-1} d\sigma(y) dr.$$

(i) Since $a, b > 0, \ \alpha\beta > 0$ and $m < \frac{Q-p}{p}$ we obtain

J

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm+p}} |f(x)|^p dx$$

$$\begin{split} &\leq \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathfrak{S}} (a+br^\alpha)^\beta r^{Q-1-pm-p} \left(\frac{\alpha\beta br^\alpha}{(a+br^\alpha)(Q-pm-p)} + 1 \right) |f(ry)|^p d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= \int_0^\infty \int_{\mathfrak{S}} \frac{d}{dr} \left(\frac{(a+br^\alpha)^\beta r^{Q-pm-p}}{Q-pm-p} \right) |f(ry)|^p d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= -\frac{p}{Q-pm-p} \int_0^\infty (a+br^\alpha)^\beta r^{Q-pm-p} \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathfrak{S}} |f(ry)|^{p-2} f(ry) \frac{\overline{df(ry)}}{dr} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &\leq \left| \frac{p}{Q-pm-p} \right| \int_{\mathfrak{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^\alpha)^\beta |\mathcal{R}f(x)| |f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{pm+p-1}} dx \\ &= \frac{p}{Q-pm-p} \int_{\mathfrak{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^\alpha)^\frac{\beta(p-1)}{p} |f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{(m+1)(p-1)}} \frac{(a+b|x|^\alpha)^\frac{\beta}{p}}{|x|^m} |\mathcal{R}f(x)| dx. \end{split}$$

By Hölder's inequality, it follows that

$$\begin{split} &\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm+p}} |f(x)|^{p} dx \\ \leq & \frac{p}{Q-pm-p} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm+p}} |f(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm}} |\mathcal{R}f(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}}, \end{split}$$

which gives (8.1).

Now we show the sharpness of the constant. We need to check the equality condition in the above Hölder's inequality. Let us consider the function

$$g(x) = |x|^C,$$

where $C \in \mathbb{R}, C \neq 0$ and $Q \neq pm + p$. Then by a direct calculation we obtain

(8.5)
$$\left|\frac{1}{C}\right|^{p} \left(\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}|\mathcal{R}g(x)|}{|x|^{m}}\right)^{p} = \left(\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta(p-1)}{p}}|g(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{(m+1)(p-1)}}\right)^{\frac{p}{p-1}},$$

which satisfies the equality condition in Hölder's inequality. This gives the sharpness of the constant $\frac{Q-pm-p}{p}$ in (8.1). Let us now prove Part (ii). Here we also assume that $Q \neq pm + p - \alpha\beta$ since

Let us now prove Part (ii). Here we also assume that $Q \neq pm + p - \alpha\beta$ since for $Q = pm + p - \alpha\beta$ there is nothing to prove. Using the polar decomposition, we have the equality (8.4). Since $\alpha\beta < 0$ and $pm - \alpha\beta < Q - p$ we obtain

$$\begin{split} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm+p}} |f(x)|^{p} dx \\ &\leq \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{G}} (a+br^{\alpha})^{\beta} r^{Q-1-pm-p} \left(\frac{br^{\alpha}}{a+br^{\alpha}} + \frac{a}{a+br^{\alpha}} \right. \\ &\left. \cdot \frac{Q-pm-p}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \right) |f(ry)|^{p} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+br^{\alpha})^{\beta} r^{Q-1-pm-p}}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \left(\frac{\alpha\beta br^{\alpha}}{a+br^{\alpha}} + Q-pm-p\right) |f(ry)|^{p} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{d}{dr} \left(\frac{(a+br^{\alpha})^{\beta} r^{Q-pm-p}}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \right) |f(ry)|^{p} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &= \int_{0}^{\infty} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{d}{dr} \left(\frac{(a+br^{\alpha})^{\beta} r^{Q-pm-p}}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \right) |f(ry)|^{p-2} f(ry) \frac{\overline{df(ry)}}{dr} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &\leq \left| \frac{p}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \int_{0}^{\infty} (a+br^{\alpha})^{\beta} r^{Q-pm-p} \operatorname{Re} \int_{\mathbb{G}} |f(ry)|^{p-2} f(ry) \frac{\overline{df(ry)}}{dr} d\sigma(y) dr \\ &\leq \left| \frac{p}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \right| \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta} |\mathcal{R}f(x)| |f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{pm+p-1}} dx \\ &= \frac{p}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta(p-1)}{p}} |f(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{(m+1)(p-1)}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} |\mathcal{R}f(x)| dx. \end{split}$$

By Hölder's inequality, it follows that

$$\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm+p}} |f(x)|^{p} dx$$

$$\leq \frac{p}{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta} \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm+p}} |f(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{p-1}{p}}$$

$$\times \left(\int_{\mathbb{G}} \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\beta}}{|x|^{pm}} |\mathcal{R}f(x)|^{p} dx \right)^{\frac{1}{p}},$$

which gives (8.2).

Now we show the sharpness of the constant. We need to check the equality condition in the above Hölder's inequality. Let us consider the function

$$h(x) = |x|^C,$$

where $C \in \mathbb{R}, C \neq 0$ and $Q \neq pm + p - \alpha\beta$. Then by a direct calculation we obtain

(8.6)
$$\left|\frac{1}{C}\right|^p \left(\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}|\mathcal{R}h(x)|}{|x|^m}\right)^p = \left(\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta(p-1)}{p}}|h(x)|^{p-1}}{|x|^{(m+1)(p-1)}}\right)^{\frac{p}{p-1}},$$

which satisfies the equality condition in Hölder's inequality. This gives the sharpness of the constant $\frac{Q-pm-p+\alpha\beta}{p}$ in (8.2).

9. Higher order inequalities

In this section we present higher order L^p -Hardy type inequalities with superweights by iterating the obtained inequalities (8.1) and (8.2).

Theorem 9.1. Let \mathbb{G} be a homogeneous group of homogeneous dimension Q and let $|\cdot|$ be a homogeneous quasi-norm on \mathbb{G} . Let a, b > 0 and 1 .

(i) If $\alpha\beta > 0$ and $pm \leq Q - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$, we have (9.1)

$$\left[\prod_{j=0}^{k-1} \left(\frac{Q-p}{p} - (m+j)\right)\right] \left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+k}}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \le \left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}}\mathcal{R}^{k}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$
(ii) If $\alpha\beta < 0$ and m , $\alpha\beta < 0$, n , then for all $f \in C^{\infty}(\mathbb{C}\setminus\{0\})$, we have

(1) If
$$\alpha\beta < 0$$
 and $pm - \alpha\beta \leq Q - p$, then for all $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$, we have
(9.2)
$$\begin{bmatrix} k-1 \\ \Pi \\ \Pi \\ (Q - p + \alpha\beta \\ (Q - \alpha\beta \\ (Q - p + \alpha\beta \\ (Q - \alpha\beta \\$$

$$\left\|\prod_{j=0}^{n-1} \left(\frac{Q-p+\alpha\beta}{p} - (m+j)\right)\right\| \left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{n}{p}}}{|x|^{m+k}}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \le \left\|\frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{n}{p}}}{|x|^{m}}\mathcal{R}^{k}f\right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}.$$

In the case of k = 1 (9.1) gives inequality (8.1) and (9.2) gives inequality (8.2). Proof of Theorem 9.1. We can iterate (8.1), that is, we have

$$(9.3) \qquad \frac{Q-pm-p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}.$$

In (9.3) replacing f by $\mathcal{R}f$ we obtain

(9.4)
$$\frac{Q-pm-p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \mathcal{R}^{2}f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}.$$

On the other hand, replacing m by m + 1, (9.3) gives

(9.5)
$$\frac{Q - p(m+1) - p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+2}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+1}} \mathcal{R}f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}.$$

Combining this with (9.4) we obtain

$$\frac{Q-pm-p}{p} \cdot \frac{Q-p(m+1)-p}{p} \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+2}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}$$
$$\leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \mathcal{R}^{2} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})}.$$

This iteration process gives

$$\prod_{j=0}^{k-1} \left(\frac{Q-p}{p} - (m+j)\right) \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+k}} f \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})} \le \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^m} \mathcal{R}^k f \right\|_{L^p(\mathbb{G})}.$$

Similarly, we have for $\alpha\beta < 0$, $pm - \alpha\beta \leq Q - 2$ and $f \in C_0^{\infty}(\mathbb{G} \setminus \{0\})$

$$\prod_{j=0}^{k-1} \left(\frac{Q-p+\alpha\beta}{p} - (m+j) \right) \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m+k}} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})} \leq \left\| \frac{(a+b|x|^{\alpha})^{\frac{\beta}{p}}}{|x|^{m}} \mathcal{R}^{k} f \right\|_{L^{p}(\mathbb{G})},$$
 completing the proof.

completing the proof.

References

- [ACP05]B. Abdellaoui, E. Colorado, and I. Peral, Some improved Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 23 (2005), no. 3, 327–345. MR2142067
- N. Bez, C. Jeavons, T. Ozawa, and M. Sugimoto, Stability of trace theorems on the [BJOS16] sphere, J. Geom. Anal. (2017), DOI 10.1007/s12220-017-9870-8.
- [BL85] Haïm Brezis and Elliott H. Lieb, Sobolev inequalities with remainder terms, J. Funct. Anal. 62 (1985), no. 1, 73-86. MR790771
- [BM97] Haïm Brezis and Moshe Marcus, Hardy's inequalities revisited, Ann. Scuola Norm. Sup. Pisa Cl. Sci. (4) 25 (1997), no. 1-2, 217–237 (1998). Dedicated to Ennio De Giorgi. MR1655516
- [BV97] Haim Brezis and Juan Luis Vázquez, Blow-up solutions of some nonlinear elliptic problems, Rev. Mat. Univ. Complut. Madrid 10 (1997), no. 2, 443-469. MR1605678
- [CF08] Andrea Cianchi and Adele Ferone, Hardy inequalities with non-standard remainder terms (English, with English and French summaries), Ann. Inst. H. Poincaré Anal. Non Linéaire **25** (2008), no. 5, 889–906. MR2457816
- [CKN84] L. Caffarelli, R. Kohn, and L. Nirenberg, First order interpolation inequalities with weights, Compositio Math. 53 (1984), no. 3, 259-275. MR768824
- Shibing Chen, Rupert L. Frank, and Tobias Weth, Remainder terms in the fractional [CFW13] Sobolev inequality, Indiana Univ. Math. J. 62 (2013), no. 4, 1381–1397. MR3179693
- [FR16] Veronique Fischer and Michael Ruzhansky, Quantization on nilpotent Lie groups, Progress in Mathematics, vol. 314, Birkhäuser/Springer, [Cham], 2016. MR3469687
- [FS82] G. B. Folland and Elias M. Stein, Hardy spaces on homogeneous groups, Mathematical Notes, vol. 28, Princeton University Press, Princeton, N.J.; University of Tokyo Press, Tokyo, 1982. MR657581
- [FS08] Rupert L. Frank and Robert Seiringer, Non-linear ground state representations and sharp Hardy inequalities, J. Funct. Anal. 255 (2008), no. 12, 3407-3430. MR2469027
- [GM08] Nassif Ghoussoub and Amir Moradifam, On the best possible remaining term in the Hardy inequality, Proc. Natl. Acad. Sci. USA 105 (2008), no. 37, 13746-13751. MR2443723

- [GM11] Nassif Ghoussoub and Amir Moradifam, Bessel pairs and optimal Hardy and Hardy-Rellich inequalities, Math. Ann. 349 (2011), no. 1, 1–57. MR2753796
- [Han15] Yazhou Han, Weighted Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequality on the Heisenberg group, Indian J. Pure Appl. Math. 46 (2015), no. 2, 147–161. MR3359731
- [HNZ11] Ya Zhou Han, Peng Cheng Niu, and Shu Tao Zhang, On first order interpolation inequalities with weights on the Heisenberg group, Acta Math. Sin. (Engl. Ser.) 27 (2011), no. 12, 2493–2506. MR2853804
- [HZ11] Ya Zhou Han and Qiong Zhao, A class of Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequalities for generalized Baouendi-Grushin vector fields (Chinese, with English and Chinese summaries), Acta Math. Sci. Ser. A Chin. Ed. **31** (2011), no. 5, 1181–1189. MR2884112
- [HZD11] Yazhou Han, Shutao Zhang, and Jingbo Dou, On first order interpolation inequalities with weights on the H-type group, Bull. Braz. Math. Soc. (N.S.) 42 (2011), no. 2, 185–202. MR2833798
- [MOW15] Shuji Machihara, Tohru Ozawa, and Hidemitsu Wadade, Scaling invariant Hardy inequalities of multiple logarithmic type on the whole space, J. Inequal. Appl. (2015), 2015:281, 13. MR3399244
- [NDD12] Pablo L. De Nápoli, Irene Drelichman, and Ricardo G. Durán, Improved Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg and trace inequalities for radial functions, Commun. Pure Appl. Anal. 11 (2012), no. 5, 1629–1642. MR2911104
- [ORS16] Michael Ruzhansky and Durvudkhan Suragan, On horizontal Hardy, Rellich, Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg and p-sub-Laplacian inequalities on stratified groups, J. Differential Equations 262 (2017), no. 3, 1799–1821. MR3582213
- [RS16] M. Ruzhansky and D. Suragan, Critical Hardy inequalities, arXiv: 1602.04809, 2016.
- [RS17a] Michael Ruzhansky and Durvudkhan Suragan, Local Hardy and Rellich inequalities for sums of squares of vector fields, Adv. Differential Equations 22 (2017), no. 7-8, 505-540. MR3646469
- [RS17b] Michael Ruzhansky and Durvudkhan Suragan, On horizontal Hardy, Rellich, Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg and p-sub-Laplacian inequalities on stratified groups, J. Differential Equations 262 (2017), no. 3, 1799–1821. MR3582213
- [RS17c] Michael Ruzhansky and Durvudkhan Suragan, Layer potentials, Kac's problem, and refined Hardy inequality on homogeneous Carnot groups, Adv. Math. 308 (2017), 483– 528. MR3600064
- [RS17d] Michael Ruzhansky and Durvudkhan Suragan, Hardy and Rellich inequalities, identities, and sharp remainders on homogeneous groups, Adv. Math. 317 (2017), 799–822. MR3682685
- [RS16e] Michael Ruzhansky and Durvudkhan Suragan, Anisotropic L²-weighted Hardy and L²-Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities, Commun. Contemp. Math. 19 (2017), no. 6, 1750014, 12. MR3691504
- [RSY16] M. Ruzhansky, D. Suragan, and N. Yessirkegenov, Sobolev type inequalities, Euler-Hilbert-Sobolev and Sobolev-Lorentz-Zygmund spaces on homogeneous groups, Integral Equations Operator Theory, to appear. arXiv:1610.03379v3 (2018).
- [RSY17a] Michael Ruzhansky, Durvudkhan Suragan, and Nurgissa Yessirkegenov, Extended Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities and superweights for L^p-weighted Hardy inequalities, C. R. Math. Acad. Sci. Paris 355 (2017), no. 6, 694–698. MR3661553
- [RSY17b] Michael Ruzhansky, Durvudkhan Suragan, and Nurgissa Yessirkegenov, Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg and Sobolev type inequalities on stratified Lie groups, NoDEA Nonlinear Differential Equations Appl. 24 (2017), no. 5, Art. 56, 12. MR3688854
- [ST15a] Megumi Sano and Futoshi Takahashi, Scale invariance structures of the critical and the subcritical Hardy inequalities and their improvements, Calc. Var. Partial Differential Equations 56 (2017), no. 3, Art. 69, 14. MR3640647
- [ST15b] Megumi Sano and Futoshi Takahashi, Some improvements for a class of the Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities, Differential Integral Equations 31 (2018), no. 1-2, 57–74. MR3717734
- [WW03] Zhi-Qiang Wang and Michel Willem, Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities with remainder terms, J. Funct. Anal. 203 (2003), no. 2, 550–568. MR2003359
- [Yac17] Ch. Yacoub, Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg inequalities on Lie groups of polynomial growth, Math. Nachr. 291 (2018), no. 1, 204-214. DOI 10.1002/mana.201700063.

- [ZHD14] Shutao Zhang, Yazhou Han, and Jingbo Dou, A class of Caffarelli-Kohn-Nirenberg type inequalities on the H-type group, Rend. Semin. Mat. Univ. Padova 132 (2014), 249–266. MR3276834
- [ZHD15] Sh. Zhang, Y. Han and J. Dou. Weighted Hardy-Sobolev type inequality for generalized Baouendi-Grushin vector fields and its application. Advances in Mathematics (China), 44(3):411–420, 2015.

Department of Mathematics, Imperial College London, 180 Queen's Gate, London SW7 2AZ, United Kingdom

Email address: m.ruzhansky@imperial.ac.uk

Institute of Mathematics and Mathematical Modelling, 125 Pushkin Street, 050010 Almaty, Kazakhstan–and–RUDN University, 6 Miklukho-Maklay Street, Moscow 117198, Russia

Email address: suragan@math.kz

INSTITUTE OF MATHEMATICS AND MATHEMATICAL MODELLING, 125 PUSHKIN STREET, 050010 ALMATY, KAZAKHSTAN-AND-DEPARTMENT OF MATHEMATICS, IMPERIAL COLLEGE LONDON, 180 QUEEN'S GATE, LONDON SW7 2AZ, UNITED KINGDOM

Email address: n.yessirkegenov15@imperial.ac.uk

62